
Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764626 
e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - CABINET

Date & Time - Tuesday, 15 January 2019 at 10.00 am

Venue - Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Cabinet:

Councillors: The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader), C N Worth (Deputy Leader), 
M G Chandler (Deputy Leader), T A Carter, A Casson, P E Coupland, R Gambba-Jones, 
C N Johnson, C J Lawton and G J Taylor.

No substitutions permitted. Quorum 3.

Note: Cabinet reports may be referred to Council or Scrutiny Panels.  They 
should therefore be kept for future reference during the current 
committee cycle.  

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to 

silent mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:   7 January 2019

Public Document Pack

Page 1



A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence. 

2. Minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the following 
meetings: 

a)   Cabinet - 20 November 2018 (copy enclosed) (Pages 
5 - 16)

b)   Special meeting of the Cabinet - 17 December 2018 (copy 
enclosed).

(Pages 
17 - 18)

3. Declarations of Interest. - (Where a Councillor has a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest the Councillor must declare the interest to the 
meeting and leave the room without participating in any discussion or 
making a statement on the item, except where a Councillor is permitted 
to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation.)

4. Questions raised by the public under the Council's Constitution 
(Standing Orders). 

5. To consider any matters which have been subject to call-in. 

6. To consider matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels in accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules. 

7. Lincolnshire Waste Partnership - Joint Municipal Waste Management 
Strategy - To provide members with the Joint Municipal Waste 
Management Strategy that has been created with the County Council 
and the 7 Lincolnshire authorities within the Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership (report of the Portfolio Holder for Place enclosed).

(Pages 
19 - 
120)

8. Electric Vehicle Charging Stations - To highlight the building costs 
associated with the construction and running costs of electric vehicle 
charging stations at a number of locations with South Holland, and the 
current public and private sector funding opportunities currently 
available (report of the Deputy Leader and the Executive Manager 
People and Public Protection).

(To 
follow)

9. Log of Delegation to Officers - Contracts delegations and Contract 
Procedure Rules - To consider revised Delegations to Officers in relation 
to contracts and to consider proposed amendments to the Contracts 
Procedure Rules (report of the Portfolio Holder for Governance and 
Customer enclosed). 

(Pages 
121 - 
132)

10. A report concerning a proposed HRA development at Small Drove, 
Weston - To secure agreement for the delivery of 34 affordable homes 
by the Authority at Small Drove, Weston; to seek member approval for 
the award of the build contract for the construction of the dwellings; and 

(Pages 
133 - 
142)

Page 2



to seek member approval for the acceptance of grant funding from 
Homes England, based on the proposed grant funding agreement 
appended to the report (report of the Portfolio Holder Corporate Delivery 
and Strategic Oversight enclosed).

Please note that the appendices associated with this report are not 
for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 (Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 
authority holding that information)) in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972, and are therefore attached to this 
agenda as item 13).

11. Any other items which the Leader decides are urgent. - 

Note: (i) No other business is permitted unless by reason of 
special circumstances, which shall be specified in the 
Minutes, the Leader is of the opinion that the item(s) 
should be considered as a matter of urgency.  

(ii) Any urgent item of business that is a key decision must 
be dealt with in accordance with the Constitution’s 
Access to Information Procedure Rules.

12. To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act. 

13. A report concerning a proposed HRA development at Small Drove, 
Weston - (appendices enclosed).

(Pages 
143 - 
256)

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



- 20 -

Minutes of a meeting of the CABINET held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 20 November 2018 at 10.00 am.

PRESENT

G A Porter (Leader)
C N Worth (Deputy Leader)
M G Chandler (Deputy Leader)

T A Carter
A Casson
P E Coupland

R Gambba-Jones
C N Johnson

C J Lawton
G J Taylor

The Chief Executive, the Executive Director Strategy and Governance, the Executive 
Director Commercialisation, the Executive Director Place, the Executive Manager 
People and Public Protection, the Strategic Finance and Compliance Manager, the 
Place Manager, the Executive Programme Manager, the Licensing and Business 
Support Manager, the Environmental Services Manager, the Corporate Improvement 
and Performance Manager, the Planning and Building Control Manager, the Building 
Consultancy Manager, the Head of Services Revenues and Benefits, the Recovery 
and Support Team Leader, the Legal Services Manager, the Graduate Trainee and 
the Democratic Services Officer.
 
Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors A M Newton, 
together with Lincolnshire Community & Voluntary Service (South Lincolnshire 
Community and Voluntary Service), Welland Seniors Forum (Welland Seniors Forum) 
and Parish Councils (Parish Councils) 

In Attendance:  Councillor B Alcock (Chairman, Performance Monitoring Panel) and 
Councillor G R Aley (Chairman, Governance and Audit Committee).
Community Representatives:  

Action By
35. MINUTES 

The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 11 September 2018 
were signed by the Leader as a correct record.

The Cabinet also received the minutes of the meeting of the 
Priory Road Community Hub Project Sub-Committee held on 20 
September 2018.

36. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.a)



- 21 -

CABINET - 20 November 2018

37. QUESTIONS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC UNDER THE 
COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION (STANDING ORDERS). 

No questions were raised under the Council’s Constitution 
(Standing Orders).

38. TO CONSIDER ANY MATTERS WHICH HAVE BEEN SUBJECT 
TO CALL-IN. 

There were no matters subject to call-in.

39. TO CONSIDER MATTERS ARISING FROM THE POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANELS 

There were no matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels.

40. REVISED STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING POLICY 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Place, which considered a revised Street Naming and Number 
Policy and accompanying new charging regime.

There was some discussion on historic names and non 
acceptable suffixes and it was agreed that where these issues 
arose, they should be dealt with on a case-by-case basis.

DECISION:

That the revised Street Naming and Numbering Policy and the 
accompanying proposed new charging regime, detailed in 
Appendix 1 to the report, be adopted.

(Other options considered:
 To do nothing;
 To adopt the revised Street Naming and Numbering Policy 

and the accompanying proposed new charging regime, 
contained in Appendix 1, with revisions.

Reasons for decision:
 There have been no changes to the Council’s responsibilities 

in respect of street naming and numbering.  The Council is still 
required to provide this service and to ensure there is no 
confusion over addresses of properties in the District.

 There are limited changes to the policy in terms of procedure.  
The main proposed change is to charge for this service and 
generate income for the Council.  Other Councils are know to 
be charging for these works.  It is therefore reasonable for 
South Holland to explore this opportunity further;

CB, PN 

Page 6



- 22 -

CABINET - 20 November 2018

 The current Street Naming and Numbering Policy was 
originally adopted in 2005.  It is therefore timely to review its 
contents.)

41. OPTIONS FOR PAYING PARKING CHARGES 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Place, which provided members with details of the current car 
parking options available in order to agree the scope of the 
statutory consultation that would propose changes to the car 
parking order.

Options available to the Cabinet were 1) card only machines; 2) 
card and cash machines; or 3) to do nothing.

It was suggested that car parking charges should be reviewed in 
order to encourage users to pay by card rather than cash.  
Members were advised that a report would be brought forward to 
the Cabinet next year, following a complete review of fees and 
charges, and that this suggestion could be included within the 
report.

DECISION:

a) That consultation be undertaken on card and cash payment 
machines (option 2) for the car parks at:

i. Sheep Market - Spalding, PE11 1BE 
ii. Victoria Street - Spalding PE11 1EA 
iii. Holland Road - Spalding PE11 1UL 
iv. Westlode Street - Spalding PE11 2AF (on behalf of 

Broadgate Homes)
v. Winfrey Avenue - Spalding PE11 1DA 
vi. The Vista - Spalding PE11 2RA 
vii. Swimming Pool - Spalding PE11 1QD 

b) That it be agreed, in principle, that the South Holland District 
Council  (Off Street Parking Places) (Civil Enforcement) Order 
2012 be amended so as to allow payment of parking charges 
by ‘any means advertised’ such as coin, card and mobile 
phone; 

c) That officers be authorised to undertake the necessary 
consultation and equality impact assessment in relation to the 
proposed amendments to the car parking order and report 
back to a future meeting following completion of the 
consultation process;

CP 

CP 

Page 7



- 23 -

CABINET - 20 November 2018

d) That the draft notice of proposals and the draft statement of 
reasons attached as Appendices B and C to the report be 
approved in principle; and 

e) That the request for the additional capital costs for altering the 
machines (associated with option 2) be completed, and a 
further report be submitted to a future meeting proposing 
amendments to the current car parking charges due to the 
additional costs associated with this option.

(Other options considered:
 Option 1 – Card only machines; or
 Option 3 - To do nothing.
Reasons for decision:
 Cash payments would be incorporated with the new card 

payment function – this would mitigate the potential risk of a 
high number of objections as part of the consultation which, if 
they could not be appropriately justified, could result in the 
machines needing to be converted to cash and card post 
consultation;

 Although not the cheapest option, option 2 may be the 
quickest in terms of getting the new machines fitted and in use 
as there was a lower risk of objections during the consultation, 
which would cause a delay in fitting the machines; and

 That the order is made future proof by consulting on allowing 
the provision of ‘any payment method as advertised; to allow 
for changes in technology and include current options such as 
mobile phone payments for car parking as part of the 
consultation.)

42. OPTIONS FOR THE ENFORCEMENT OF ELECTRIC VEHICLE 
CAR PARKING SPACES 

Consideration was given to the report of the Deputy Leader, 
which provided members with details of current car parking 
options available, in order to agree the scope of the statutory 
consultation that would propose changes to the car parking order.

Members commented that although the Authority had no control 
over car parks operated by Parish Councils, it was currently 
liaising with three Parish Councils and would assist them where 
possible.

DECISION:

 That should the Council introduce electric vehicle only spaces 
(once the necessary budgets and formal decision have been 

PA, RP 

Page 8



- 24 -

CABINET - 20 November 2018

made to do so), and that in order to ensure that enforcement can 
be undertaken immediately ,within electric vehicle only spaces 
(currently anticipated to be within car parks at Vine Street, 
Spalding, Victoria Street, Spalding and Fishpond Lane, 
Holbeach), the following be undertaken:

a) That in principle, the South Holland District Council  (Off Street 
Parking Places) (Civil Enforcement) Order 2012 be amended 
so as to allow electric vehicle parking bays to be used only by 
electric vehicles; 

b) That officers be authorised to undertake the necessary 
consultation and equality impact assessment in relation to the 
proposed amendments to the car parking order and report 
back to a future meeting following completion of the 
consultation process;

c) That the draft notice of proposals and the draft statement of 
reasons attached as Appendices B and C to this report be 
approved in principle

(Other options considered:
 Option 2 – Not to change the current car parking order until 

the Council agrees to install electric vehicle charging points 
within its car parks; or;

 Option 3 - Do nothing.
Reasons for decision:
 Option 1 allows for any future electric vehicle charging units to 

be installed quicker as the car parking order would already be 
amended, allowing for enforcement related to non-electric 
vehicles using parking spaces served by charging units .)

43. SAFEGUARDING POLICY 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Strategy, Governance and Transformation and the Executive 
Director Strategy and Governance, which asked the Cabinet to 
consider and approve the new Safeguarding Policy for South 
Holland District Council.

DECISION:

a) That the Safeguarding Policy be adopted; and

b) That delegated authority be given to the Executive Director for 
Strategy and Governance in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Strategy, Governance and Transformation to make 

JB 

Page 9



- 25 -

CABINET - 20 November 2018

minor amendments to this policy.

(Other options considered:
 To do nothing.
Reasons for decision:
 Under section 11 of the Children Act, the Authority has a duty 

to ensure its functions are discharged having regard to the 
need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children;

 The Care Act 2014 requires the Authority to work with other 
agencies to prevent and stop the risk and experience of abuse 
or neglect, and ensure that adults wellbeing is promoted;

 A policy is an essential part of meeting this requirement, and 
the Authority would be criticised by the Children and Adults 
Safeguarding Boards for failing to adopt and follow such a 
policy.) 

44. PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT - QUARTER 2 2018/19 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Strategy and Governance which provided an update on Council 
performance for the period 1 July 2018 to 30 September 2018.

The Corporate Improvement and Performance Manager reported 
that Housing Void Re-Let times continued to be reviewed, and 
improvement of the turnover of voids was being sought.  At the 
request of the Performance Monitoring Panel, who had recently 
considered the report, members were also provided with high 
level figures on staff turnover for the last 12 months, although it 
was clarified that this covered a period when service reviews had 
been undertaken.  The percentage of leavers was as follows – 
Housing 50%; Environmental Services 23%; Planning 7%; and 
Corporate Team 5%.

The following issues were raised:

 Missed collections were sometimes due to vehicle access 
issues, rather than them simply being missed.  It was 
important that this information was captured in order that a 
correct representation of the issue was reflected in the 
performance figures.  The Environmental Services Manager 
advised that she was currently working with the Corporate 
Improvement and Performance Team to consider how this 
information was reported.

 There had been some improvement in the performance of 
housing void re-let times, and work was underway to identify 
those properties that were easier to re-let.  Members 
questioned whether the improvement in performance was due 

CP, RB 

RB, JK, PS

Page 10



- 26 -

CABINET - 20 November 2018

to this, and requested that a report be available at the next 
meeting showing historic performance.  The Executive 
Director Place was confident that improvement was not purely 
as a result of re-letting easier to let properties, but agreed that 
a comparison against historic targets was needed. 

 The Portfolio Holder Governance and Customer also 
commented that she was working with the Corporate 
Improvement and Performance Manager to consider ways of 
improving reporting and measurement.

 Freedom of Interest requests were important however, 
consideration needed to be given to prioritising genuine 
requests from the public and the information given within the 
Authority’s responses.  The Chief Executive responded that 
this was being addressed, and further training on responding 
to requests was to be undertaken.

DECISION:

a) That the content of the report be noted; and

b) That the proposed amendment to the staff turnover 
performance measure target, to bring it in line with the national 
average for 18/19, be agreed.

(Other options considered:
 To do nothing.
Reasons for decision:
 In order that the Authority can show a healthy staff turnover 

rate in line with all other authorities.) 

 
RB 

45. LOCAL COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME - 2019/20 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder 
Finance, which sought a Cabinet decision on the final proposals 
for the 2019/20 Local Council Tax Support Scheme, to be 
presented to Council for approval on 28 November 2018.

At its meeting on 11 September 2018, the Cabinet approved 
consultation on continuation of the current Council Tax scheme, 
uprated in line with DWP’s annual update of allowances and 
premiums for housing benefit, and the introduction of a new class 
for Care Leavers aged 18-21 years, providing up to 100% 
discount.  The consultation exercise ran between 14 September 
and 2 November 2018, and the consultation report was attached 
at Appendix A to the report. 

Page 11



- 27 -

CABINET - 20 November 2018

DECISION:

That the report be noted.

RECOMMENDATION TO FULL COUNCIL:

a) That the current Council Tax Support scheme be continued for 
2019/20, along with uprating in line with the DWP’s annual 
update of allowances and premiums for housing benefit;

b) That a new class for Care Leavers, aged 18-21 years be 
introduced; and

c) That delegated authority to the Executive Director 
Commercialisation, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Finance be agreed, to approve the final scheme policy in line 
with the report.

 (Other options considered:
 Continuation of the current scheme into 2019/20, uprated 

in line with the DWP’s annual update of allowances and 
premiums for housing benefit, but no introduction of a new 
class for Care Leavers aged 18-21 years, providing up to 
100% discount.

Reasons for decision:
 The recommended option would provide continuity for 

customers at a time when they might be experiencing 
change through the introduction of Universal Credit, and it 
would also provide for a new class for Care Leavers into 
the main Council Tax Support scheme;

 This approach would continue to see South Holland’s 
scheme modelled on the previous national Council Tax 
Benefit scheme, keeping administration of working age 
applications broadly consistent with administration of 
Housing Benefit and pensioners Council Tax Support. 
However with the implementation of Universal Credit in 
2018/19, there will begin a reduction in working age 
Housing Benefit claimants over the next few years, and in 
turn a reduction in government funding.  It is therefore 
timely that whilst consulting on a proposal for no change to 
the Council Tax Support scheme for 2019/20, that work 
begins on looking to develop a simplified scheme.

 Exploratory work will begin in 2018/19 to consider various 
scheme options and approaches, with a view to 
recommendations coming to Cabinet early in 2019/20 
followed by consultation and then final decision making to 
achieve implementation of a new, simplified scheme for 

Page 12



- 28 -

CABINET - 20 November 2018

introduction in 2020/21.)

46. FINANCE REPORT QUARTER 2 2018-19 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder 
Finance and the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151), 
which provided information on Quarter 2 (to 30 September 2018) 
and forecast full year financial position of the Council.

DECISION:

a) That the report and Appendix A be noted;

b) That the estimated position with regard to the contributions to 
and use of Reserves be noted; and

RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:

c) That the following increase in the HRA Capital Programme be 
approved in accordance with paragraph 5.6.2 of the report:

 Included in the Q1 report was a potential scheme for the 
replacement of 12 CSU vehicles.  This project had now 
been evaluated and it was proposed that Council approved 
an increase of £260,000 in the approved capital 
programme, which would be funded from the Major 
Repairs Reserve.

(Other options considered:
 To note the report and not approve the recommendations 

detailed in Appendix A;
 To do nothing.
Reasons for decision:
 To provide members with information on the Council’s overall 

financial performance to date in 2018-19 and to provide an 
updated financial position on reserves for 2018-19.)

47. DEBT WRITE OFF 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder, 
Finance which sought approval for the write off of uncollectable 
debt.  

Members noted that the report contained details of individual 
debts within the confidential appendices (Appendix A – Council 
Tax and Appendix B – Business Rates).  A copy of the 
Operational Debt Write-Off Policy was also provided for reference 
at Appendix C.  These appendices were not for publication by 

Page 13



- 29 -

CABINET - 20 November 2018

virtue of Paragraphs 1 (Information relating to any individual), 2 
(Information which is likely to reveal the identity of any individual) 
and 3 (Information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information).

Members agreed that only the principles of the report would be 
discussed and there was therefore no need for the meeting to go 
into private session.

DECISION:

That the following debts be written off:

Council Tax £2,360.36
Business Rates £2,848.24
Total: £5,208.60

(Other options considered:
 Do nothing; or
 Approve the recommendations with amendments

Reasons for decision:
 All recovery methods available had been considered and 

where appropriate pursued before making the decision to 
write off;

 Officer time can be maximised on greatest returns, at the 
same time as ensuring robust procedures for debt 
management are in place across all revenue streams.)

48. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE LEADER DECIDES ARE 
URGENT - HOLBEACH FOOD ENTERPRISE ZONE LOCAL 
DEVELOPMENT ORDER 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Growth and Commercialisation which requested that the Cabinet 
formally agree to adopt the Holbeach Food Enterprise Zone Local 
Development Order, and to subsequently notify the Secretary of 
State to the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG), through the National Planning Casework 
Unit (NPCU) of the decision.

The Leader had agreed that this report be considered as an 
urgent item as legal advice had been received confirming that the 
decision had to be made by the Cabinet and not the Council, and 
a decision was required before the next scheduled meeting of the 
Cabinet.   

Page 14



- 30 -

CABINET - 20 November 2018

DECISION:

a) That the Cabinet formally agrees to adopt the Holbeach Food 
Enterprise Zone Local Development Order 2018;

b) That within 28 days of adoption the Council notifies the 
Secretary of State to the Ministry for Housing, Communities 
and Local Government (MHCLG), through the National 
Planning Casework Unit (NPCU), of the Council’s decision;

c) That within 14 days of adoption a copy of the Holbeach Food 
Enterprise Zone Local Development Order 2018, and its 
Statement of Reasons, is placed on the Planning Register.

(Other options considered:
 Not to agree the recommendations.
Reason for decision:
 The Local Development Order would provide an incentive for 

food and related businesses to locate on the Food Enterprise 
Zone, would contribute to the delivery of the Council’s 
Corporate Plan, would mesh with the over-riding vision and 
ambitions of the emerging South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, 
and would meet with the wider economic objectives of the 
Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership as set out in 
the Greater Lincolnshire Agri-Foods Sector Plan).

(The meeting ended at 10.55 am)

(End of minutes)

These minutes are published on Friday 23 November 2018.  In accordance with the 
Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed above will, unless otherwise stated, 
come into force and may then be implemented on Monday 3 December 2018 (i.e. 
after the expiry of 5 working days from the date of publication of these minutes), 
unless during that period a notice which is signed by either a Ward Representative (in 
relation to a matter in their ward) or two members of the Performance Monitoring 
Panel or any three members, and complies with the requirements of the Council’s 
Constitution is served on the Executive Manager Governance requesting that the 
decision be called-in and the Executive Manager Governance approves the request 
for call-in.  Where a decision is called-in it will firstly be considered by the 
Performance Monitoring Panel on a date to be fixed.

Any FINAL DECISIONS and any URGENT DECISIONS take effect immediately.

Any RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL detailed above will be submitted for 
consideration to the meeting of the full Council on 28 November 2018.

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



- 31 -

Minutes of a special meeting of the CABINET held in the Council Chamber, Council 
Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Monday, 17 December 2018 at 10.00 am.

PRESENT

G A Porter (Leader)
C N Worth (Deputy Leader)
M G Chandler (Deputy Leader)

T A Carter
A Casson

P E Coupland
C J Lawton

G J Taylor

The Chief Executive, the Executive Director Strategy and Governance (Monitoring 
Officer), the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151), the Strategic Finance and 
Compliance Manager and the Democratic Services Officer.

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors R Gambba-
Jones and C N Johnson, together with South Holland Citizens Advice Bureau. 

In Attendance:  Councillor B Alcock (Chairman, Performance Monitoring Panel) and 
Councillor G R Aley (Chairman, Governance and Audit Committee). 

Action By
49. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST. 

There were no declarations of interest.

50. DRAFT BUDGET, MEDIUM TERM PLAN AND CAPITAL 
STRATEGY (FOR CONSULTATION) 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Finance and the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151), 
which requested that members consider the Draft General Fund 
and Housing Revenue Account 2019-20, revenue and capital 
estimates and the Draft Financial Medium Term Plan (for 
consultation).

It was noted that the wording of the fourth recommendation did 
not show in full on the report – it was confirmed that it should read 
‘that members note the ongoing use of the Council Tax reserve to 
facilitate the smoothing of business rates surplus or deficits’.
 
AGREED:

a) That the following documents be issued for consultation:

 Revenue Estimates for the General Fund and Housing 
Revenue Account (as set out in Appendices A, B and C)

JC, SK 

Page 17

Agenda Item 2.b)



- 32 -

CABINET - 17 December 2018

 Reserves position as set out in Appendix D
 Capital Programme as set out in Appendix E
 Capital Strategy as set out in Appendix F (this was not 

available at the meeting, but would be considered by the 
Cabinet at its meeting in February 2019);

b) That a £500k annual addition be made to the capital 
programme for the five year period 2018-19 to 2022-23 to fund 
the acquisition of capital assets;

c) That members note the intention to create a Community 
reserve of £500k using New Homes Bonus (NHB) in 2019-20 
as part of the budget setting process; and

d) That members note the ongoing use of the Council Tax 
reserve to facilitate the smoothing of business rates surplus or 
deficits.

(Other options considered:
 That the draft capital and revenue budget estimates, the 

medium term financial plan and the capital strategy be 
released for consultation, with amendments.

Reasons for recommendation:
 To comply with the budgetary and policy framework.)

(The meeting ended at 10.11 am)

(End of minutes)

These minutes are published on Tuesday 18 December 2018.  In accordance with 
the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed above will, unless otherwise 
stated, come into force and may then be implemented on Monday 31 December 
2018 (i.e. after the expiry of 5 working days from the date of publication of these 
minutes), unless during that period a notice which is signed by either a Ward 
Representative (in relation to a matter in their ward) or two members of the 
Performance Monitoring Panel or any three members, and complies with the 
requirements of the Council’s Constitution is served on the Executive Manager 
Governance requesting that the decision be called-in and the Executive Manager 
Governance approves the request for call-in.  Where a decision is called-in it will 
firstly be considered by the Performance Monitoring Panel on a date to be fixed.

Any FINAL DECISIONS and any URGENT DECISIONS take effect immediately.

Any RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL detailed above will be submitted for 
consideration to the meeting of the full Council on Wednesday 23 January 2019.

Page 18



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Place 

To: Cabinet – Tuesday 15 January 2019

(Author: Charlotte Paine Environmental Services Manager)

Subject Lincolnshire Waste Partnership - Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy

Purpose: To provide members with the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 
that has been created with the County Council and the 7 Lincolnshire 
authorities within the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership

Recommendation(s): 

1) That members adopt the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy at Cabinet on 15th 
January 2019

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Under the Waste and Emissions Trading Act 2003, authorities in two-tier areas have a duty 
to have a shared waste strategy. This allows Waste Collection Authorities (WCA) and 
Waste Disposal Authorities (WDA) to work together in deciding how they will manage waste 
in their area.

1.2 The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) was formed to oversee the implementation of 
this strategy, which will create a plan for how household waste will be managed now and in 
the future.

1.3 The LWP is comprised of senior representatives from the 7 Local Authorities managing 
waste in Lincolnshire and the County Council. Representatives from the Environment 
Agency also attend meetings.

1.4 To fulfil the duty of the Waste and Emissions Trading Act 2003, the LWP has developed a 
Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) which all authorities of the LWP 
are looking to adopt in 2018/19. 

1.5 The attached JMWMS has been through a number of stages:

 July 2017 – LWP agreement of a vision and a list of objectives
 2017/18 – Various initial drafts developed and revised
 March 2018 – Consultation Draft approved by LWP
 April to July 2018 – Public Consultation, including formal scrutiny by all LWP partner 

councils
 August 2018 – Revised Draft prepared in the light of consultation responses
 September 2018 – LWP endorse JMWMS as ready for formal adoption by each 

partner council

Page 19

Agenda Item 7.



1.6 In SHDC, the JMWMS went to joint PDP/PMP in April 2018 as part of the partnership 
consultation and feedback process. Feedback from the scrutiny panel was detailed in the 
following points;

 Educating residents was seen as an essential tool in reducing littering, and 
increasing the uptake of valid recycling;

 Enforcement - encourage the public not to litter or fly tip and where possible, fine 
perpetrators;

 Keep recycling processes simple – the national mood to be ‘greener’ should be 
harnessed and the most cost effective and environmentally friendly solutions should 
be sought;

 The Portfolio Holder Place and the Environmental Services Team to look at how 
glass, metal and plastics could be collected with paper and cardboard but kept 
separate;

 Continuity of collections.

1.7 The JMWMS includes an action plan which sets out how the LWP will work to meet the 
strategic objective of the strategy.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That members adopt the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy at Cabinet on 15th 
January 2019

2.2 Do Nothing

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The JMWMS sets out a Lincolnshire position in respect of waste management issues, and 
looks to establish a culture with values in support of delivering the waste strategy and its 
vision. 

“To seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, customer friendly 
waste management solutions that give value for money to Lincolnshire.”

3.2 The JMWMS has been created to deliver key objectives with a joint goal in mind. However, 
work on how to implement those going forward will continue beyond the adoption of the 
strategy in a partnership which allows officers to ensure the best options for South Holland 
residents are always represented.

3.3 In order to deliver the JMWMS effectively it is important that all partners of the LWP agree 
to adopt the strategy and action plan, the failure to do so could have reputational, 
environmental and financial impacts to SHDC if we chose to not adopt a shared strategy.

3.4 The proposed JMWMS has been subject to Strategic Environmental Assessment and it is 
considered that it promotes the right balance between selecting the best environmental 
options and providing value for money.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

Page 20



4.1 The JMWMS and its strategic objectives ensure that all partners of the LWP are working 
towards a main goal of addressing the waste management concerns of the County 
partnership and by signing up to that, we agree to work in a way that best addresses these 
for our residents.

4.2 Working as a partnership to produce the JMWMS has required close communication 
between partners, and consistent messages to Stakeholders. The delivery of the strategy 
and action plan will be done with the same goals in mind.

4.3 By signing up to the JMWMS, SHDC are supporting the ambition of the LWP to provide a 
mechanism through which to assess the impacts of change on all stakeholders in the 
control and management of waste, be that residents, business, or other third parties and 
ensure they are fully considered before individual decisions are taken. Therefore agreeing 
to adopt the JMWMS ensures that SHDC are able to best represent the needs of its 
residents and stakeholders on a County partnership stage.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 The JMWMS addresses the collection of waste and recycling in the County and has been 
subject to Strategic Environmental Assessment and it is considered that it promotes the 
right balance between selecting the best environmental options and providing value for 
money.

5.2 Corporate Priorities

5.2.1 The JMWMS addresses our corporate priorities to ensure cleaner, greener and safer public 
spaces and protect our environment.

5.3 Reputation

5.3.1 By not signing up to the JMWMS the Council could risk reputational impacts where it would 
fail to support a waste strategy endorsed by the other authorities in the LWP. 

5.4 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

5.4.1 The JMWMS has been consulted on with the other authorities in the LWP and externally 
with the public. The feedback received from this has been used to alter the JMWMS 
accordingly.

5.4.2 The JMWMS has so far been approved for adoption by Boston District Council, City of 
Lincoln Council and Lincolnshire County Council, though without agreement from all eight 

Page 21



members of the LWP, the JMWMS will not be possible to be officially adopted.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All 

7.0 ACRONYMS

7.1 JMWMS – Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy
7.2 WDA – Waste Disposal Authority
7.3 WCA – Waste Collection Authority 
7.4 LWP – Lincolnshire Waste Partnership

Background papers:- Minutes of a meeting of the JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held on Tuesday, 24 
April 2018 at 6.30 pm.

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Charlotte Paine Environmental Services Manager
Telephone Number
Email: cpaine@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Y 

Exempt Decision: N 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Lincolnshire Waste Partnership - Joint Municipal Waste Management 

Strategy

Page 22

https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/documents/g2487/Printed%20minutes%2024th-Apr-2018%2018.30%20Joint%20Performance%20Monitoring%20Panel%20and%20Policy%20Development%20Pane.pdf?T=1
https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/documents/g2487/Printed%20minutes%2024th-Apr-2018%2018.30%20Joint%20Performance%20Monitoring%20Panel%20and%20Policy%20Development%20Pane.pdf?T=1
https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/documents/g2487/Printed%20minutes%2024th-Apr-2018%2018.30%20Joint%20Performance%20Monitoring%20Panel%20and%20Policy%20Development%20Pane.pdf?T=1


Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



P
age 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



P
age 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



P
age 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



P
age 106



P
age 107



Page 108



Page 109



P
age 110



P
age 111



P
age 112



P
age 113



P
age 114



P
age 115



P
age 116



P
age 117



P
age 118



Page 119



Page 120



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Governance and Customer 

To: Cabinet – 15 January 2019
Council – 23 January 2019 

 
(Author: Jacqui Berridge Lawyer) 

Subject Log of Delegation to Officers -  Contracts delegations and Contract Procedure 
Rules 

Purpose: To consider revised Delegations to Officers in relation to contracts and to 
consider proposed amendments to the Contracts Procedure Rules 

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the proposed delegations to officers relating to contracts, detailed in Appendix B, be 
approved and the Log of Delegations be amended accordingly; and 

2) That the proposed amendments to the Contracts Procedure Rules detailed in Appendix C be 
approved; and 

3) That full Council be recommended to amend the Constitution in accordance with Appendix 
C.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Log of Delegation to Officers currently includes the delegations relating to contracts 
shown in Appendix A.  As is set out in more detail below, there is a need to make changes 
to the Contract Procedure Rules in the Constitution. In addition, and to reflect amendments 
to the Contract Procedure Rules over recent years, the establishment of the Contracts 
Team, and changes in post titles, there is a need to update the current delegations to 
officers in respect of contract matters. 

1.2 An amended list of officer delegations relating to contracts, as detailed in Appendix B, is 
therefore submitted for consideration.  

1.3 The contracts service has recently been subject to an audit. One of the recommendations 
arising from that audit is that the Contract Procedure Rules be amended to show what level 
of officer may authorise each level of the procurement process.  In the event that the 
proposed amended list of officer delegations detailed in Appendix B is approved, proposed 
amendments to the Contract Procedure Rules to comply with this audit requirement are 
attached at Appendix C.

Page 121

Agenda Item 9.



2.0       PROPOSED AMENDED DELEGATIONS 

2.1 Comparison between the existing and proposed delegations is difficult because the 
Contract Procedure Rules have been completely rewritten since the existing delegations 
were granted.  The following issues are, however, highlighted: 

 both sets of delegations essentially deal with the (i) tender (ii) evaluation (iii) award 
(iv) signing and (v) termination of contracts; and (vi) the waiving of any requirements 
of the Contract Procedure Rules 

 tendering and evaluating - the existing delegations require the tendering of all 
contracts over £75,000 to be undertaken by Service Managers (SMs) and above, 
subject to consultation with the portfolio holder.  The new delegations allow officers 
below SM level to undertake all parts of the tendering process, without portfolio 
holder consultation, but not the award and signing of contracts.  This allows lower 
level officers to request, receive and evaluate tenders/quotations in compliance with 
the Contract Procedure Rules, with portfolio holder input for the award of certain 
contracts   

 awarding contracts - in both sets of delegations, officers at SM level and above 
award contracts. The awarding of most contracts was previously subject to 
consultation with the relevant portfolio holder.  It is proposed that this requirement 
for consultation should continue, except for (i) routine contracts (for example, 
routine ongoing or annual maintenance contracts, routine purchasing of goods and 
equipment; routine servicing of vehicles etc); (ii) contracts for 1-off schemes where 
the scheme itself has been formally approved and where sufficient money has been 
allocated within the budget for the contract; and (iii) indirect services such as legal 
services or consultants for schemes which have been formally approved and where 
sufficient money has been allocated within the budget for the contract.  This should 
help to simplify the process. 

 signing contracts  - in both sets of delegations, officers at SM level and above sign 
contracts.  In the new delegations the Contracts and Procurement Manager has 
been added as a signatory 

 in both sets of delegations officers at SM level and above may enter into post tender 
negotiations

 terminating contracts  - in both sets of delegations officers at SM level and above 
may terminate any contract where there is lawful cause (in the new delegations this 
is subject to consultation with the Monitoring Officer and s151 Officer)

 the proposed delegations continue to ensure that no officer delegations are 
actioned unless the funding for the proposed contract has been included within the 
approved budget.  As some contracts extend beyond the current financial year, this 
includes the approved 5 year capital programme

 waiving any Procedure Rule requirements  - in the existing Rules any exemptions to 
the Rules were authorised by the Chief Executive or Director following consultation 
with the Monitoring Officer and appropriate portfolio holder (or Leader or Deputy 
Leader in his/her absence).  This is not referred to in the existing Log of Delegation.  
In the proposed delegations the Chief Executive, Chief Officers and Deputy Chief 
Officers have such authority following consultation with the MO or s151 Officer.  

2.2 If the proposed amended delegations are approved, the Cabinet and full Council will 
continue to recommend and approve the budget/capital programme for each contract, with 

Page 122



officers then tendering and awarding contracts in compliance with the Contract Procedure 
Rules, subject to any necessary consultation with the relevant portfolio holder.  

2.3 Most officer decisions must be published. However, this does not apply to routine 
administrative decisions and minor operational matters, or to decisions which are not 
closely connected to the discharge of an executive function. There is no legal definition of a 
minor or administrative decision, but the approach that officers adopt is to consider whether 
a decision would be of public interest. As such, low value contracts would likely be 
considered minor. Larger contracts could be of public interest and would therefore result in 
a decision notice.  Decisions on the process such as tendering and evaluation of 
tenders/quotations are not closely connected with the discharge of the function and are 
most likely administrative and are not published as they follow the process already 
approved as part of the Contract Procedure Rules in the Constitution.

2.4 So in conclusion it is proposed that:

 only officers at SM level and above be given authority to enter into post tender 
negotiations, and to award, sign and terminate contracts  

 officers at lower level be given authority to deal with all aspects of the tendering 
process

 portfolio holders be involved in relation to the awarding of contracts (except contracts 
which are routine; contracts which comprise part of a formal approval for a 1-off 
scheme; or indirect contracts for legal or consultancy services etc)  

 only the CX, COs and DCOs be authorised to waive any requirements of the Contract 
Procedure Rules following consultation with the MO or S151 Officer 

2.5 A need for two additional delegations has been identified in order to ensure consistency 
with current procedures and Contract Procedure Rules:
 The use of Standing (Approved) Lists of Contractors (Rule 8.1.2 and 8.1.3) (SMs and 

above)
 the disposal of obsolete assets (Rule 9.2) (SMs and above)

3.0 PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE CONTRACTS PROCEDURE RULES 

3.1 The proposed amendments to the Contracts Procedure Rules set out in Appendix C follow 
the proposed amended Log of Delegations to Officers. 

4.0 OPTIONS

4.1 Cabinet can approve or decline to approve any of the delegations detailed in Appendix B 
and the proposed amendments to the Contract Procedure Rules set out in Appendix C.

5.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

5.1 The existing delegations detailed in Appendix A correlate with the former Contract 
Procedure Rules.  The proposed delegations in Appendix B will, if approved, correlate with 
the amended Contract Procedure Rules.  The proposed amendments in Appendix C will 
comply with audit requirements and ensure that officers are notified of the level of 
delegation that applies to each part of the Contracts process.  

Page 123



6.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

6.1 The proposed delegations to officers will relate more closely to the current Contract 
Procedure Rules. The proposed amendments to the Contracts Procedure Rules will secure 
compliance with the audit requirements.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

7.1 Constitutional & Legal

7.1.1 As the award of contracts is an executive function, delegation of part of that function is 
reserved to the Leader and the Cabinet.  

7.1.2 The Contract Procedure Rules relate to the contracts function and Cabinet therefore has an 
opportunity to consider proposed amendments to the Rules, but as the Contract Procedure 
Rules form part of the Constitution full Council approval is required. 

7.2 Contracts

7.2.1 The amended delegations will correlate and comply with the current Contract Procedure 
Rules.  The proposed amendments to the Contract Procedure Rules will allow compliance 
with the audit requirements.   

7.3 Risk Management

7.3.1 Full compliance with the Contract Procedure Rules and the relevant Officer delegations 
should lower any risk of challenge to any contracting procedure. 

8.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

8.1 None 

9.0 ACRONYMS

9.1 The following acronyms, contained in Appendices A and B, apply. 

 AD means Assistant Directors (now defunct - replaced by DCOs)
 CPM means the Contracts and Procurement Manager 
 CX means Chief Executive 
 CO means Chief Officer (currently the CX and the Shared Executive Directors)
 DCO means Deputy Chief Officer (currently the Executive Managers) 
 HLM means Housing Landlord Manager (the HLM is a SM and specific reference to 

the HLM is therefore removed from the proposed delegations)

Page 124



 SM means Service Manager
 SLO means the Senior Legal Officer (currently the Executive Manager Governance) 

Background papers:- The Log of Delegation to Officers

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Jacqui Berridge Lawyer
Telephone Number
Email: jacqui.berridge@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: N 
Exempt Decision: N 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service / Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Existing delegations to officers relating to contracts 
Appendix B Proposed delegations to officers relating to contracts 
Appendix C Proposed amendments to the Contract Procedure Rules 

Page 125



APPENDIX A – existing delegations to officers relating to contracts 

Officer(s) Subject  Delegation 
From 

Power Authorising 
Minute 

(a)  CX, 
Directors, AD's, 
SM’s, HLM

Contracts – Consultants 
(All delegations relating to 
contracts are subject to the 
scheme falling within the 
approved budget)

Cabinet Authority to act as “Authorised Officer” 
to ensure that any procurement in 
accordance with the Procedure Rules, 
and that consultant’s performance is 
monitored (Rule 1.4).

C112/07

(b)  CX, 
Directors, AD's, 
SM’s, HLM

Contracts (All delegations 
relating to contracts are 
subject to the scheme 
falling within the approved 
budget)    

Cabinet Authority to authorise staff to place 
orders against Framework Agreements 
(Rules 3.2 and 32.1).

C112/07

(c)  CX, 
Directors, AD's, 
SM’s, HLM and 
any other 
officer with the 
approval of the 
CX/Director/SM

Contracts – Low Value 
Procurement including 
emergency works (All 
delegations relating to 
contracts are subject to the 
scheme falling within the 
approved budget) 

Cabinet The seeking of written quotations and 
the raising of purchase orders.

C112/07

(d)  CX, 
Directors, 
SM’s, HLM and 
any other 
officer with the 
approval of the 
CX / Director / 
SM

Contracts – Medium Value 
Procurement including 
emergency works (All 
delegations relating to 
contracts are subject to the 
scheme falling within the 
approved budget)      

Cabinet The seeking of written competitive 
quotations and the raising of purchase 
orders.

C112/07

(e)  CX, 
Directors, SM’s 
and HLM in 
consultation 
with 
appropriate 
portfolio holder

Contracts – High Value 
Procurement not subject to 
EU Regulations (All 
delegations relating to 
contracts are subject to the 
scheme falling within the 
approved budget) 

Cabinet (i)  Authority to seek tenders by way 
of:-
·   Open Competitive Tendering
·   Selective Tendering from an 
Approved List of Contractors
·   Selective Tendering by 
Advertisement for Specific Contracts
(ii)  Serial Negotiated Contracts -  
Authority to  negotiate with contractor a 
contract forming part of a serial 
programme on basis of rates and 
prices contained in an initial contract 
previously awarded competitively 
following an invitation to tender
(iii)  Single Negotiated Contract  -
Authority to negotiate with a contractor 
already approved on the Council’s list 
of contractors or on the 
Constructionline database where 
considered to be in the Council’s best 
interest 
(iv)  Partnership  - Authority to enter 
into a longer term contract with a single 
service provider for the supply of 
supplies, services or works on the 
principles of shared objectives, risk, 
resources and continuous improvement 
in performance (following tender)  

C112/07

(f)  CX, 
Directors, 
SM’s, HLM in 
consultation 
with 
appropriate 
Portfolio Holder

Contracts – High Value 
Procurement subject to EU 
Regulations (All 
delegations relating to 
contracts are subject to the 
scheme falling within the 
approved budget)

 Cabinet Authority to seek tenders in 
accordance with Regulations under the 
open, restricted or negotiated 
procedure, as appropriate.

C112/07

Page 126



(g)  CX, 
Directors, 
SM’s, HLM and 
any other 
officer with the 
approval of the 
CX / Director / 
SM

Contracts – opening of 
tenders

Cabinet Authority to act as “Authorised Officer” 
for the purposes of opening of tenders 
(Rule 19.2)

C112/07

(h)  CX, 
Directors, 
SM’s, HLM in 
consultation 
with 
appropriate 
Portfolio Holder

Contracts – awarding of 
(All delegations relating to 
contracts are subject to the 
scheme falling within the 
approved budget)       

Cabinet Authority to award any contracts not 
dealt with under (e) above following 
appropriate procedure

C112/07

(i)  CX, 
Directors, 
SM’s, HLM and 
any other 
officer with the 
approval of the 
CX / Director, 
SM’s

Contracts   
(All delegations relating to 
contracts are subject to the 
scheme falling within the 
approved budget)

Cabinet Authority to issue letter of intent (Rule 
27.1)

C112/07

(i)  CX, 
Directors and 
SM’s, HLM

Contracts – Miscellaneous 
(All delegations relating to 
contracts are subject to the 
scheme falling within the 
approved budget)

Cabinet (i)  Authority to enter into post tender 
negotiations (Rule 23.1)
(ii)  Authority to sign contracts where 
not under seal (Rule 29.1)
(iii)  Authority to nominate to main 
contractor (Rule 34.2)
(iv)  Authority to approve variations 
(Rule 34.4)
(v)  Authority to require performance 
bond or other sufficient security (Rule 
34.5)
(vi)  Authority to extend contract in 
accordance with its terms (unless 
portfolio holder report required) (Rule 
35.1)
(vii) Authority to negotiate extension of 
contract where terms do not expressly 
provide for extension (Rules 35.2 and 
35.3)
(viii)  Authority to terminate contracts 
(Rule 36)

C112/07

(k)  CX, 
Directors, 
SM’s, HLM in 
consultation 
with 
appropriate 
Portfolio Holder

Contracts – Miscellaneous 
(All delegations relating to 
contracts are subject to the 
scheme falling within the 
approved budget)   

Cabinet Without prejudice to the foregoing, the 
power to enter into any contract for the 
supply of goods, services or works.

C112/07

Page 127



APPENDIX B – proposed delegations to officers relating to contracts 

Officer(s) Subject  Delegation 
From 

Power 

CX, COs and DCOs following 
consultation with the MO or 
S151 Officer

Contracts - 
contracting 
activities of any 
partnership for 
which the Council 
is the accountable 
body 

Cabinet (Note to Contract Procedure Rule 1.1)
Authority to agree that Contract Procedure Rules 
do not apply to contracting activities of any 
partnership for which the Council is the 
accountable body. 

CX, COs, DCOs and SMs 
subject to consultation with the 
appropriate portfolio holder 
(consultation is not required for 
(i) routine contracts (eg routine 
ongoing or annual maintenance 
contracts, routine purchasing of 
goods and equipment; routine 
servicing of vehicles etc); (ii) 
contracts for 1-off schemes 
where the scheme has been 
formally approved and where 
sufficient money has been 
allocated within the budget for 
the contract; and (iii) indirect 
services such as legal services 
or consultants for schemes 
which have been formally 
approved and where sufficient 
money has been allocated 
within the budget for the 
contract.)   

Contracts – letting 
(awarding) of 
contracts through 
framework 
agreement 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rules 2.1.5 and 8.2) 
Authority to let (award) a contract through any 
framework agreement to which the Council has 
access where considered expedient by a CO or 
a DCO subject to the scheme falling within the 
approved budget which includes the approved 5 
year capital programme.

(A decision notice must be published for each 
award of contract unless administrative, minor or 
not closely connected to discharge of function.)

(The signing of contracts is dealt with separately 
below.)

CX, COs and DCOs following 
consultation with the MO or 
S151 Officer 

Contracts - 
variation or waiver 
(exemption) of 
Contract 
Procedure Rules 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rules 3.1 and 3.2)
Authority to vary or waive any Contract 
Procedure Rules subject to complying with all 
relevant requirements of Rule 3, and subject to 
the scheme falling within the approved budget 
which includes the approved 5 year capital 
programme. 

CX, COs, DCOs and SMs Contracts - 
Standing 
(Approved) Lists 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rules 8.1.2 and 8.1.3) 
Authority to determine that a Standing 
(Approved) List shall be kept of persons suitable 
for undertaking contracts for the execution of 
specified categories of work or for the supply of 
specified categories of goods, materials or 
services within such values or amounts as may 
be specified, in accordance with Contract 
Procedure Rule 8, and to use such Lists, subject 
to full compliance with Rule 8. 

(The awarding and signing of contracts are dealt 
with separately below)

CX, COs, DCOs and SMs Contracts - assets 
for disposal

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rule 9.2)
Authority to dispose of obsolete stocks, stores or 
assets, other than land, subject to complying 
with Contract Procedure Rule 9.2.

CX, COs, DCOs, SMs and any 
other officer with the written 
approval of the CX/CO/DCO/SM 
(any sub-delegations lasting 
more than 6 months must be 
reported to the SLO)

Contracts - pre 
tender market 
testing and 
consultation 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rule 10.1) Authority to 
consult potential suppliers prior to issue of the 
Invitation to Tender or Request for Quotation 
subject to the scheme falling within the approved 
budget which includes the approved 5 year 
capital programme. 

CX, COs, DCOs, SMs and any Contracts – all Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rules 8.1.8,  8.2 (where a 

Page 128



other officer with the written 
approval of the CX/CO/DCO/SM 
(any sub-delegations lasting 
more than 6 months must be 
reported to the SLO)

values – seeking, 
receiving and 
evaluating 
quotations/tenders 
for contracts for 
works, goods 
materials and 
services, and 
hiring of 
consultants 

competition is required), 9.1.3 and 9.1.4,  11.0,   
12.0,  14.0,  16.1, 17.2).   Authority to request 
and receive tenders and quotations, and to 
evaluate tenders and quotations subject to 
compliance with the Contract Procedure Rules 
(as amended by any authorised variation or 
waiver) and subject to the scheme falling within 
the approved budget which includes the 
approved 5 year capital programme. 

(The awarding and the signing of contracts are 
dealt with separately below.)

CX, COs, DCOs and SMs 
following consultation with the 
relevant portfolio holder 
(consultation is not required for 
(i) routine contracts (eg routine 
ongoing or annual maintenance 
contracts, routine purchasing of 
goods and equipment; routine 
servicing of vehicles etc); (ii) 
contracts for 1-off schemes 
where the scheme has been 
formally approved and where 
sufficient money has been 
allocated within the budget for 
the contract; and (iii) indirect 
services such as legal services 
or consultants for schemes 
which have been formally 
approved and where sufficient 
money has been allocated 
within the budget for the 
contract.)  

Contracts - 
awarding of 
contracts 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rules 8.2,  16.2)  Authority 
to award contracts subject to compliance with 
the Contract Procedure Rules (as amended by 
any authorised variation) and subject to the 
scheme falling within the approved budget which 
includes the approved 5 year capital 
programme. 

(Decision notices must be published for each 
award of contract unless administrative, minor or 
not closely connected with discharge of 
function.)

(The signing of contracts is dealt with separately 
below.)    

The CPM plus the CX, COs, 
DCOs and SMs 

Contracts – 
signing of 
contracts which 
are not under seal 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rule 18.2) Authority to sign 
contracts which are not under seal and which 
come within the jurisdiction of the officer 
concerned. 

(Contracts under seal must be signed only by 
officers who have specific authority to do so.)

CX, COs, DCOs, SMs and any 
other officer with the written  
approval of the CX/CO/DCO/SM 
(any sub-delegations lasting 
more than 6 months must be 
reported to the SLO)

Contracts - refusal 
of hard copy 
tenders 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rule 14.4) 
Authority to refuse to accept hard copy tenders 
which do not comply with the Contract 
Procedure Rules.  

Officers of the Contracts team Contracts - 
Authorised Officer 
of relevant team 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rules 14.3.2 and 14.4) 
Officers appointed as "Authorised Officer of 
relevant team" 

CX, COs, DCOs, SMs and any 
other officer with the written  
approval of the CX/CO/DCO/SM 
(any sub-delegations lasting 
more than 6 months must be 
reported to the SLO)

Clarification of an 
invitation to tender 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rule 15.1)  Authority to 
provide clarification of an Invitation to tender

CX, COs, DCOs, SMs and CPM Post tender 
negotiations

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rules 15.2 to 15.6)  (at 
least 2 officers are required – see rule 15.6) 
Authority to undertake post tender negotiations 

CX, COs, DCOs and SMs Authority to 
terminate 
contracts 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rule 29)  Authority to 
terminate contracts subject to consultation with 
the MO and S151 Officer

Page 129



APPENDIX C – Proposed amendments to the Contracts Procedure Rules 

Rule 2.1.1 be amended to read as follows:

“Officers will comply with:

(a) these Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs);

(b) the Council’s Constitution; 

(c) the Log of Delegations to Officers; and

(d) with all UK and EU legal requirements (including ensuring that any contractors are 
mandatorily excluded from participation in a procurement procedure where Regulation 57 
of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 applies).”

That, with the exception of Rules 8.2, 16.2 and 29 which are dealt with below, the following 
wording be added to the beginning or end (as appropriate) of any Contract Procedure Rule 
mentioned in the proposed Log of Delegations to Officers at Appendix B:

“(See the Log of Delegations to Officers for details of officers who may action this Rule)” 
 

A new Contract Procedure Rule 5.2A be added as follows:

“Most contracts will be awarded by officers making a decision under delegated authority 
(see the Log of Delegations to Officers).  All such officer decisions must be published 
unless the decision is administrative, minor or not closely connected to the discharge of an 
executive function.  Some decisions will be subject to Call-In.  Where Call-In applies the 
winning contractor must not be advised of the outcome of the process until the Call-In 
period has expired.”

Rule 5.6 be amended to read as follows:

“Subject to complying with Rule 5.2A, prospective candidates must be notified simultaneously in 
writing and as soon as possible of any contracting decision.  If a candidate requests in writing the 
reasons for a contracting decision, the officer must give reasons in writing within 15 days of the 
request.”

Page 130



Rules 8.2.4 and 8.2.5 be added as follows:

“8.2.4  Where a Framework Agreement is used and the arrangements under that Agreement 
include mini competition, the Log of Delegations to Officers details which officers may 
seek, receive and evaluate quotations/tenders.”

“8.2.5  Most contracts will then be awarded by officers making a decision under delegated 
authority (see the Log of Delegations to Officers).  All such officer decisions must be 
published unless the decision is administrative, minor or not closely connected to the 
discharge of an executive function.  Some decisions will be subject to Call-In.  Where Call-
In applies the winning contractor must not be advised of the outcome of the process until 
the Call-In period has expired.”

Rule 16.2.4 be added as follows:

“16.2.4  Most contracts will be awarded by officers making a decision under delegated 
authority (see the Log of Delegations to Officers).  All such officer decisions must be 
published unless the decision is administrative, minor or not closely connected to the 
discharge of an executive function.  Some decisions will be subject to Call-In.  Where Call-
In applies the winning contractor must not be advised of the outcome of the process until 
the Call-In period has expired.”

Rule 29 be added as follows:

“29.0  TERMINATION OF CONTRACTS

The Log of Delegations to Officers details which officers may terminate a contract.  Any 
termination must be strictly in accordance with the terms of the contract and subject to 
consultation with the Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer.”

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr Colin Johnson, Portfolio Holder for Corporate Delivery and Strategic 
Oversight

To: Cabinet Tuesday, 15 January 2019 & Council Wednesday 23rd January 2019

Author: Matthew Hogan Executive Manager Growth

Subject A report concerning a proposed HRA development at Small Drove, Weston

Purpose: To secure agreement for the delivery of 34 affordable homes by the authority 
at Small Drove, Weston. To seek member approval for the award of the build 
contract for the construction of the dwellings. To seek member approval for 
the acceptance of grant funding from Homes England, based on the proposed 
grant funding agreement appended to the report.  

Recommendation(s) for Cabinet : 

1) That approval is given for the construction of 34 new-build affordable homes by the authority 
at Small Drove, Weston, enabling the scheme to move towards delivery phase, subject to 
recommendation 4 being agreed by Full Council. 

2) To approve the budget spend for the scheme, based on the financial business case 
contained within this report. 

3) That approval be given for the council to enter into a build contract with the preferred 
contractor for the construction of 34 homes at Small Drove, Weston, and to delegate 
authority to the Executive Director for Commercialisation (s.151) to undertake any incidental 
amendments required to complete the contract.

Recommendation(s) for Council : 

4) That approval be given for the authority to enter into a grant agreement with Homes England 
in relation to grant funding through the Shared Ownership Affordable Homes Programme 
2016-2021 to support the delivery of 34 homes at Small Drove, Weston, 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 South Holland District Council currently owns 10 pre-fabricated two bedroom bungalows at 
Small Drove, Weston. As an asset, the 10 bungalows are held within the council’s Housing 
Revenue Account and are currently used as short-term lets, as part of the council’s wider 
stock of temporary accommodation. The 10 units on the site are of poor quality in terms of 
their condition, and the units occupy a large ‘land take’ by modern development standards 
(10 dwellings on an area of 0.818 hectares).

1.2 Due to the factors relating to condition, and the scope to make better use of the available 
land, the site was identified in 2015 as a potential redevelopment site for the council. 
Following initial feasibility work, a planning application for 34 homes was submitted to the 

Page 133

Agenda Item 10.



authority as Local Planning Authority for the site in April 2018. In July 2018, following 
consideration by planning committee, full planning consent was awarded for the site. 

1.3 In August 2018 work commenced on a procurement exercise for a building contractor for 
the site as a means of securing a firm ‘contract price’ for the development, therefore 
supporting the refinement of a final business case for the scheme. Alongside the 
procurement exercise, officers engaged with Homes England in respect of a potential 
application for affordable housing grant to support the delivery of the site. This process 
included the authority formally applying for ‘Investment Partner Status’ with Homes England 
as a means of paving the way for a future formal grant application. 

1.4 In October 2018, the window for tender submissions from the private sector to deliver the 
scheme closed. A period of tender analysis followed whereby the submissions were 
assessed against a 50% Quality and 50% cost criteria. The process has resulted in a 
preferred building contractor partner being identified. Details of the procurement exercise 
and the preferred contractor are included within exempt Appendix 2.

1.5 Running concurrently, South Holland District Council was granted Investment Partner 
Status by Homes England and a bid for grant funding was submitted and considered by the 
local Homes England Team and at a national level. This has led to Homes England 
providing the authority with a grant funding allocation to help subsidise the delivery of the 
site.  
 

1.6 Having secured planning consent, undertaken a procurement exercise for a building 
contractor and having been awarded an allocation of grant funding through Homes England 
to support the scheme, this paper seeks to present to members the business case in 
respect of the proposed development at Small Drove, Weston. Should the business case 
receive member approval, the project will move into delivery phase with a view to the 
development commencing ‘on site’ in March 2019, with an anticipated 60 week build-out 
period.  

1.7 The development proposal

1.8 The development proposed for the site consists of 34 homes, consisting of 20 homes for 
affordable rent and 14 homes for shared ownership (part buy, part rent). The scheme will 
provide a mix of property sizes and types, including one, two and three bed houses 
alongside bungalow accommodation.

1.9 The design, mix and specification for the properties has been drawn up in conjunction with 
a range of teams from across the council, including Property Services from an asset 
management perspective, Housing Management from an estate management perspective, 
and Strategic Housing from a housing need perspective. Other teams, such as the council’s 
Environmental Services team, have also been involved in supporting the development of 
proposals for the site. The design has also been drawn up in conjunction with the 
Architectural Liaison Officer from Lincolnshire Police. The specification and layout of the 
scheme has been designed using the secure-by-design principles and the scheme is 
looking to achieve a ‘secure by design’ accreditation for prioritising safety and reducing the 
opportunity for crime within the new estate. A detailed building specification has been 
developed as part of the procurement exercise. All tenders adhered to this document as 
part of their submissions. 

Page 134



1.10 The exact proposed mix in terms of type, size and tenure is set out below; 

 4 x one bed bungalows for rent @ 50 m2
 4 x one bed houses for rent @ 50 m2
 10 x two bed houses for rent @ 73 m2
 2 x three bed houses for rent @ 79 m2
 4 x two bed house for shared ownership @73 m2
 6 x three bed houses for shared ownership @ 79 m2
 4 x two bed bungalows for shared ownership @ 66 m2

1.11 The site was awarded full planning consent in July 2018, following consideration by the 
council’s Planning Committee. 

1.12 Procurement of a building contractor

1.13 Following the conclusion of the planning application process, a procurement exercise for a 
building contractor has been carried out. The tender exercise opened on Tuesday 28th 
August 2018 and closed at 5PM on Wednesday 10th November 2018. The tender exercise 
was operated on an open basis (as opposed through a closed tender or through a 
framework agreement approach), and the details of the tender were promoted to local 
contractors. The outcome of that tender exercise has been as follows; 

 A total number of five tenders were received. This includes tenders from small local 
contractors, through to both larger and regional contractors. 

 A tender evaluation exercise, based around a weighting split 50/50 between price and 
quality, has identified a preferred contractor. 

 The preferred contractor had the most economically advantageous tender, is a local 
contractor and the build cost submitted required no adjustments and contained no 
provisional sums. 

1.14 The procurement exercise was run on the basis of the construction of the dwellings being 
governed under the terms of a standard JCT Design and Build Contract (2016 Edition). 
This is a standard contract commonly used within the construction industry and it is one 
that the council’s employer’s agent deems suitable for use as the contractual basis for the 
proposed development. It should be noted that the council has previously used JCT 
contracts in other construction projects, alongside ‘live’ construction projects involving 
Welland Homes Ltd; the council’s wholly-owned housing company.  

1.15 Grant funding application to Homes England

1.16 Alongside undertaking the process of advancing a development proposed for the site, 
officers have sought to explore the scope for the scheme to attract grant funding from 
Homes England as a means of subsidising the proposed development. Homes England 
have an active affordable housing funding programme (known as the Shared Ownership 
and Affordable Homes Programme 2016-21), under which housing associations and local 
authorities can apply for grant funding to support the financial viability of affordable housing 
development. 

1.17 In order to access funding, applicants need both to hold status as a ‘Registered Provider’ 
and an ‘Investment Partner’ with Homes England. The authority has long held the status as 

Page 135



a ‘Registered Provider’, and in November 2018 secured status as an ‘Investment Partner’, 
thus paving the way for the authority to apply for funding as part of the 2016-21 grant 
programme. 

1.18 Having secured Investment Partner status, the authority submitted a grant application to 
Homes England for funding to support the delivery of Small Drove, Weston, subject to final 
approval by the Council. In November 2018, the authority received a grant offer from 
Homes England of £1,100,000 to support the delivery of the Small Drove scheme, subject 
to the authority entering into a grant agreement with Homes England.

 
1.19 The grant agreement includes a number of clauses and requirements to which the authority 

will need to adhere in order to draw-down grant funding throughout the lifespan of the 
project. The purpose of the clauses within the grant condition agreement are largely to 
ensure that the funded scheme is delivered as originally proposed at the outset, including 
being delivered to the timescales and tenures proposed in the original bid. 

1.20 The authority has secured legal advice on the proposed grant agreement with Homes 
England (which is set out in Appendix 4). The key requirements of the agreement which are 
detailed below:

 Timescales for delivery - The grant offer has been made to the council on the 
assumption that SHDC will deliver the scheme as detailed in the original application and 
to the timeframe agreed. The bid has been submitted committing to a start on site by 
17th May 2019 and achieving practical completion of the scheme by 17th July 2020. 
These dates align with the proposed dates for delivery agreed with the preferred 
contractor. Note that the grant agreement requires that any deviation from this has to be 
agreed by Homes England, with a long-stop date for delivery of March 2022. Officers 
are confident in the ability of the authority to deliver against the timescales set and 
agreed with Homes England. 

 Reporting – The grant offer is subject to the council keeping in regular and on-ongoing 
communication with Homes England as the scheme is built-out. Homes England require 
strict monitoring and reporting requirements and all data must be kept for a minimum of 
10 years. Homes England require regular updates on progress and the submission of 
an ‘Officers Certificate’ confirming compliance at intervals through the life of the project.  

 Penalties - The Grant Agreement lists a series of potential ‘grant withholding events’, 
which are instances whereby Homes England may choose to withhold payment of the 
grant. These include a material breach of an obligation under the agreement or through 
not delivering the scheme within timescales.

1.21 Officers are confident in the council’s ability to comply with the terms of the proposed grant 
agreement. Whereas the authority has not itself accessed Homes England affordable 
housing grant for a number of years, the council’s Housing Development team includes 
officers with considerable experience of managing Homes England grant-funded projects, 
as does the council’s ‘employers agent’ Focus Ltd. The authority has also enlisted the 
support of Longhurst Housing Association to assist with the administration of data returns 
to Homes England in respect of any grant funded schemes. 

Page 136



1.22 The financial business case

1.23 The council’s approved capital budget includes a budget line consisting of £4,147,000 for 
the redevelopment of Small Drove, Weston. This figure is based on the total costs 
estimates for the scheme, excluding any form of external grant funding. 

1.24 A financial evaluation has been completed on the scheme, based on the build contract 
price and the grant allocation from Homes England. This financial evaluation demonstrates 
the following; 

 That when supported with Homes England grant, the proposed development will 
provide the authority with a positive and financially viable return on investment. 

 That the scheme cost falls under the budget agreed for the scheme through the 
previous budget setting process

 That the scheme will generate a positive ‘gross development value’ (based on 
November 2018 prices)

1.25 The detail of this financial business case is set out in Appendix 1. 

1.26 Shared Ownership

1.27 Members will note that the proposed development includes a number of units of ‘shared 
ownership’ housing. The authority already owns and manages a small number of shared 
ownership properties within its Housing Revenue Account, and therefore these units will 
form an addition to that existing small portfolio. Officers within the Housing Management 
team are presently undertaking a review of their processes and procedures in relation to 
the management of shared ownership housing to ensure that they are up-to-date ahead of 
any potential modest expansion of the council’s shared ownership portfolio. 

1.28 The inclusion of shared ownership housing on the scheme is designed to support the 
following; 

 Providing a mix of tenures on the site, as opposed to a single tenure development
 To meet planning policy requirements concerning the mix of housing tenures on larger 

sites
 To meet identified need within an area where there is evidence of need and demand for 

accommodation aimed at first time buyers who require financial support. 

1.29 The model works under a ‘part buy, part rent’ basis, whereby the purchaser acquires a 
share of the property through a lease arrangement (typically between 25% and 50%) with a 
mortgage and then pays rent on the unsold share. SHDC as the landlord retains the 
freehold of the property, and annual rent is usually calculated on the basis of 2.75% of the 
value of the unsold share, which is then paid as a monthly rent.

1.30 It is proposed that the homes will be sold on the basis that the purchasers will be able to 
‘staircase’ to full ownership over time, if they are minded to do so. This will enable the 
owners to acquire full ownership of the dwellings if their financial capacity to own outright 
changes over time, whilst also providing the authority with a capital receipt to invest into 
further housing development. 

Page 137



1.31 Note, however, that evidence within the district on other sites where shared ownership 
exists suggests that, as opposed to ‘stair-casing’, shared-owners tend to use shared 
ownership housing as a means to build equity that funds their next purchase, typically in 
pursuit of a larger property further up ‘the ladder’, as opposed to purchasing the dwelling 
outright overtime. In a scenario where a shared-owner moves, the percentage of the 
property owned by the leaseholder is then re-sold to another eligible purchaser on a shared 
ownership basis, at the market value at the time of the sale, with the remaining percentage 
still subject to rent.  

1.32 Proposed next steps

1.33 If formal agreement is to proceed with the scheme to delivery phase, officers will look to 
enter into the build contract with the preferred building contractor partner and complete the 
grant agreement with Homes England in order to draw down 75% of the grant at ‘start on 
site’, with the remainder being claimed at scheme completion. This will enable the scheme 
to commence on-site from March 2019, with an anticipated 60 week build programme to 
conclude the construction. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Do nothing – Under this option, the authority will not proceed with the proposed 
development of 34 new affordable homes at Small Drove, Weston. 

2.2 Proceed as per the report recommendations – Under this option, the council will 
proceed to contract and delivery phase for the 34 new affordable homes at Small Drove, 
Weston. The council will enter into a grant agreement with Homes England in respect of the 
‘affordable housing funding’ to support the development, and will enter into a construction 
contract with the preferred building contractor as a means of enabling construction to 
commence. The scheme will then move into delivery phase, with a view to commencing 
‘on-site’ in March 2019. 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To enable the scheme to move into the delivery phase of the project. To formally enter into 
contract with Homes England and to secure the grant funding for the scheme. To formally 
enter into a build contract for the construction of the 34 homes. 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The expected benefits from the delivery of 34 homes at Small Drove, Weston are as 
follows; 

 The delivery of 34 houses into the HRA. The proposed development at Weston will 
deliver 34 new homes into the HRA, supporting the delivery of the wider HRA business 
plan and providing a revenue stream for further investment in new housing. 

 Leveraging of external grant. To bring national affordable housing funds into the 
district to support affordable housing delivery. 

 The replacement of homes sold through Right to Buy. The proposed development 
at Small Drove Weston will support with the replacement of homes sold through Right 
to Buy. It should be noted that a total of 19 properties were purchased through Right to 
Buy in 2017/18. 

Page 138



 A competitive return on investment, and the generation of capital receipts. 
Please see the exempt financial Appendix 1 attached. 

 Meeting housing need. The homes proposed will meet housing need in a location 
where there is evidence of a need for additional affordable homes, both in terms of 
homes for rent and homes for first time buyers who require support to access the 
housing market. This includes a small provision of bungalow accommodation for shared 
ownership, which will be aimed at supporting households who wish to access age 
appropriate accommodation but who lack the means to purchase a new build bungalow 
on the open market. 

 Replacing old for new. The proposed development at Small Drove Weston will see 10 
properties at the end of their functioning life replaced with 34 new build homes. 
Consequently the proposal will contribute to an improvement in housing conditions on 
the site, in addition to replacing assets with a high maintenance cost with units with a 
lower maintenance cost. 

 Supporting growth. Through directly investing in the proposed development at 
Weston, the authority will be directly enabling the delivery of 34 homes which would not 
come forward without the council’s intervention. 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 The proposed development will see 10 existing and poor quality properties replaced with 
higher quality new build homes that meet the latest requirements in respect of building 
regulations with regards to energy and thermal efficiency.

5.2 Constitutional & Legal

5.2.1 Given the value of external funding sought through Homes England to support the scheme, 
Full Council approval is sought for the acceptance of such grant, on the conditions 
provided, in order to support the development of the scheme. 

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 If the scheme proceeds, the council will enter into a Joint Contracts Tribunal (JCT) contract 
with the building contractor to deliver the scheme. JCT contracts are the standard form 
contract for ‘design and build’ development schemes, and have been used by the authority 
to support the development of previous housing schemes. The council is being supported 
by both its internal contracts team and its ‘employers agent’ (Focus Ltd) in respect of the 
work on the contract for the development. 

5.3.2 A common features of the standard form JCT contract (the contract type proposed with the 
preferred building contractor) include the following;  

- JCT contracts provide the employer (e.g. the Council) with a single point of 
responsibility in respect of the construction

- JCT contracts transfer a large proportion of the construction risk from the employer to 
the contractor

- JCT provides a fix cost lump sum for the construction
- JCT contracts place the requirement for the contractor to develop the approved final 

construction design for works

Page 139



5.3.3 The grant agreement with Homes England act as a contract between the council and 
Homes England is respect of grant received to fund the development. The authority has 
secured legal advice on the proposed grant agreement with Homes England, which has 
assisted in identifying the key requirements associated with the grant. Officers are 
confident in the council’s ability to comply with the terms of the proposed grant agreement.
 

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 The development of the proposed scheme supports a number of the council’s corporate 
priorities, especially in relation to ‘encouraging the local economy to be vibrant with 
continued growth’, alongside ‘to develop safer, stronger, healthier and more independent 
communities while protecting the most vulnerable’

5.5 Crime and Disorder

5.5.1 The scheme has been designed in conjunction with Lincolnshire Police’s Architectural 
Liaison Officer, as a means of planning the layout of the scheme in such a way to reduce 
and limit crime and anti-social behaviour. 

5.6 Financial

5.6.1 If the authority proceeds to contract and delivery on the scheme, this will seek the authority 
to commit to the investment as detailed in the Exempt financial Appendix 1. As set out 
within the appendix, the scheme will generate a long term positive return on investment, in 
addition to capital receipts through the sale of shares in shared ownership housing.

5.7 Reputation

5.7.1 The council’s reputation in respect of this project will be managed as part of the wider ‘risk 
management’ approach detailed within the section below. 

5.7.2 It should be noted that a communications plan is in place to support the delivery of the 
project throughout its lifespan. 

5.8 Risk Management

5.8.1 It should be noted that the proposed development comes with a number of risks. These risk 
will be managed through the council’s Housing Development team, utilising risk registers 
and other project management tools. Those risks are as follows;

 Sales risks associated with shared ownership. The proposed development includes 
14 homes for shared ownership. The authority will seek to sell shares in these 
properties on the open market to qualifying purchasers. This introduces an element of 
sales risk. However, it should be noted that officers have sought to mitigate (and will 
seek to mitigate) this risk in the following ways; 

o Market intelligence. Officers have engaged in informal discussions concerning 
market demand for shared ownership for the type of properties proposed, and in 
the location proposed. This has returned a positive view that there is indeed a 
strong market demand for shared ownership in Weston. In that sense, there is a 
good degree of confidence in the level of market demand. 

Page 140



o Marketing allowance. In addition to the estate agent fee allowed for within the 
scheme budget, the appraisal for the project includes a budget per shared 
ownership unit to support additional marketing activity of these homes. 

o Specification. It should be noted that the specification for the shared ownership 
units includes enhanced requirements, to reflect the market nature of the 
product. 

o Phasing. It is proposed that the delivery of the shared ownership housing will be 
phased to ensure an appropriate flow of properties on to the market for sale at 
any given time. 

 Construction risk. The development will be overseen by an Employers Agent and a 
clerk of works, appointed by the council and independent of the contractor, as a means 
of inspecting the site throughout the build and ensuring quality. Key construction 
elements are inspected and signed off by NHBC. Subcontractors with design 
responsibility such as those providing the timber frame, plumbing, piling, and electrics, 
are subject to a collateral warranty which creates a contractual link between the council 
and a subcontractor responsible for design to safeguard the council’s ability to claim 
directly if a fault occurs. In terms of post-construction matters relating to quality, the 
properties will be subject to a 12 month defects period and will come with a 12 year 
NHBC warranty including insolvency cover. The project budget also includes a 
contingency at 4% of build cost as a means of providing the financial means to address 
any unforeseen risks that arise during the construction period. 

 Dependency upon grant. The scheme requires a form of external subsidy as a means 
of ensuring that the development is viable. Whereas the authority has not itself 
accessed Homes England affordable housing grant for a number of years, the council’s 
Housing Development team includes officers with considerable experience of managing 
Homes England grant-funded projects, as does the council’s ‘employers agent’ Focus 
Ltd. The authority has also enlisted the support of Longhurst Housing Association to 
assist with the administration of data returns to Homes England in respect of any grant 
funded schemes.  

 Vacant possession. The site currently consists of 10 pre-fabricated bungalows, which 
are used by the authority as additional temporary accommodation for families at times 
when demand is high on the council’s core temporary accommodation stock. It is 
anticipated that vacant possession of the remaining occupied properties will be 
achieved by the end of January 2019. 

5.9 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

5.9.1 The validity of the tender price provided by the council’s chosen contractor for the scheme 
is time limited, and expires on February 7th 2019. If there is a delay in achieving the 
approval to proceed as per the recommendations, the authority will have to negotiate with 
the preferred contractor and request an extension to the validity of the build cost which is 
not guaranteed and therefore may be subject to change.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 Cowbit, Weston and Moulton Ward

Background papers:- n/a

Page 141



Lead Contact Officer

Name and Post: Matthew Hogan Executive Manager Growth
Telephone Number 01775 764524
Email: matthew.hogan@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
Key Decision: Y 
Exempt Decision: Partially

This report refers to a Discretionary Service

Confidential Appendices 1 – 4 attached to this report: 

(Please note that the following appendices are not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 
(Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information))

Appendix 1 – Financial details and modelling
Appendix 2 – Procurement and tendering report
Appendix 3 – Valuation Report (Longstaffs December 2018)
Appendix 4 – Grant Agreement with Homes England

Page 142



Document is Restricted

Page 143

Agenda Item 13.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 147

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 159

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 171

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2.a) Cabinet
	2.b) Special meeting of the Cabinet
	7. Lincolnshire Waste Partnership - Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy
	Appendix 1 for Lincolnshire Waste Partnership - Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy

	9. Log of Delegation to Officers - Contracts delegations and Contract Procedure Rules
	10. A report concerning a proposed HRA development at Small Drove, Weston
	13. A report concerning a proposed HRA development at Small Drove, Weston
	Appendix 2 for A report concerning a proposed HRA development at Small Drove, Weston
	Appendix 3 for A report concerning a proposed HRA development at Small Drove, Weston
	Appendix 4 for A report concerning a proposed HRA development at Small Drove, Weston


